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! cause, and the district court conducted its own examination, observing

that the juror had mentioned that her predisposition was based on
information in the juror questionnaire. After explaining to the juror that

any sentencing decision would have to be based on the evidence presented,

! the district court asked juror D if, after hearing all of the evidence, she

would be able to consider all forms of punishment, to which she responded
affirmatively. Neither party questioned the juror further. Because the
juror agreed to consider all of the evidence and the available sentencing

options, see Blake, 121 Nev. at 795, 121 P.3d at 577, the district court did

! not err by denying Chappell’s challenge for cause.?

Prospective juror H

Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his
challenge for cause of prospective juror H. During voir dire, juror H
expressed his reluctance to consider mitigating circumstances,

Specifically, he stated that “it would be difficult” to find any mitigating

circumstances other than insanity because he did not think there was any

way to justify a murder. After questioning juror H, the district court
denied Chappell’s challenge for cause, finding that the juror had stated

that he could (1) “consider all four forms of punishment,” (2) “follow the

| instructions of the court,” and (3) “consider all the evidence.” We conclude

2There is some dispute as to whether this potential juror served on
the jury that sentenced Chappell to death. Our review of the record
demonstrates that she did not. Thus, even if the district court erred in
denying Chappell’s challenge for cause, he fails to show prejudice. See
Weber, 121 Nev. at 681, 119 P.3d at 125.
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that the district court properly rehabilitated the juror, and therefore did
not err in denying Chappell’s challenge for cause. Moreover, Chappell
cannot demonstrate prejudice because prospective juror H did not serve on
the jury and he has not demonstrated that any member of the seated jury
panel was not fair and impartial. See Weber, 121 Nev. at 581, 119 P.3d at
125.

Prospective juror R

Chappell argues that the district court erred in refusing to
dismiss prospective juror R for cause. Juror R expressed his opinion that
the death penalty was not used enough, explaining that he came from
Texas and did not think that aggravating circumstances should be
necessary to sentence someone convicted of murder to death. However, he
also stated that he would (1) try to listen to all the information presented,
(2) use that information to make what he believed to be a fair decision,
and (3) apply the law that the judge gave him. Accordingly, because
sufficient testimony was adduced for the district court to conclude that
juror R could fulfill his “duties as a juror in accordance with his
instructions and his oath,” Walker, 113 Nev. at 866, 944 P.2d at 770
(quoting Wainwright, 469 U.S. at 424), the district court did not err in

denying this challenge for cause. Moreover, juror R did not serve on the
jury and thus Chappell fails to demonstrate prejudice. See Weber, 121
Nev. at 581, 119 P.3d at 125.

Admission of hearsay evidence

Chappell asserts that the district court erred by admitting

four instances of testimonial hearsay and several non-testimonial hearsay
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statements.3 He asserts that these admissions violated the Confrontation

Clause of the Sixth Amendment and that this evidence was inadmissible

| and highly inflammatory.

This court has held that the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth
Amendment does not apply in a capital sentencing hearing. Summers v.
State, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006); Johnson v. State,
122 Nev. 1344, 1353, 148 P.3d 767, 773 (2006); Thomas v. State, 122 Nev.
1361, 1367, 1370, 148 P.3d 727, 732, 734 (2006). Chappell acknowledges

Summers, but urges the court to overrule it. However, Chappell cites no

authority that this court failed to consider when it first decided this issue

i three years ago. We recently declined to revisit Summers in Browning v.

State, 124 Nev. ___, 188 P.3d 60 (2008), cert. denied, UusS. __,129 8.
Ct. 1625 (2009), and we decline to do so here.

Presentence investigation reports

Chappell claims that the district court erred in admitting two
presentence investigation reports (PSIs): a 1995 report related to a gross

misdemeanor charge and a 1996 report prepared for Chappell’s first trial

3Specifically, Chappell argues that he was prejudiced by the
admission of: (1) testimony of a Department of Parole and Probation
officer about statements the victim made before her death, (2) a detective’s

| testimony about the results of a DNA test, (3) a police officer’s testimony

about statements that the victim made about Chappell’'s physical abuse,
and (4) a detective’s testimony about statements made by a man who was
assaulted by Chappell. Chappell also argues that he was prejudiced by
the admission of testimony from various people about their conversations
with the victim.

12
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on the instant charges. Chappell claims that not only were the reports
confidential pursuant to NRS 176.156, but they included prejudicial
evidence about prior arrests for which he was not convicted. He also
complains that the PSIs included incorrect statements of fact and a
prejudicial statement by Panos’ mother. Finally, he claims that a written
statement included in one PSI was obtained in violation of his Miranda
rights, and was thus inadmissible. Chappell fails to demonstrate that he
i1s entitled to relief on any of these claims.

At the penalty hearing, defense counsel stated that there was

no objection to admission of the PSIs, with the exception of Chappell's

handwritten statement that was included in one report. Thus, in all other

respects, Chappell failed to preserve this matter for appeal and must
demonstrate plain error. See, e.g., Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019,
1031, 145 P.3d 1008, 1017 (2006). Because Chappell objected only to the

admission of his written statement, the disclosure of the remaining
contents of the PSIs is only grounds for a new penalty hearing if he can
“demonstrate| ] that the error affected his . . . substantial rights, by
causing ‘actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice.” Valdez v. State, 124
Nev. ., 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008) (quoting Green v. State, 119 Nev,
542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)).

Confidentiality of PSI reports

Chappell claims that the PSIs admitted during his penalty
hearing are statutorily confidential and are thus inadmissible. NRS
176.156(5) states that except where otherwise permitted by the statute, “a

report of a presentence investigation or general investigation and the
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sources of information for such a report are confidential and must not be
made a part of any public record.” However, the statute also provides that
the contents of a report must be disclosed “to a law enforcement agency of
this State or a political subdivision thereof . . . for the limited purpose of
performing their duties, including, without limitation, conducting
hearings that are public in nature.” NRS 176.156(2) (emphasis added).
Thus, we conclude that the legislature contemplated circumstances in
which these reports could be used in public hearings for law enforcement
purposes.

Moreover, this court has held that other sections of chapter
176 do not apply in first-degree murder cases, and recognized that “NRS
175.552[4 governs the admissibility of evidence during the penalty hearing
of a first degree murder case.” Smith v. State, 110 Nev. 1094, 1106, 881
P.2d 649, 656 (1994). Thus, while this court has recognized NRS 176.156

in capital cases where the contents of a PSI have been disclosed to a jury,
the violation of that statute has not been the basis for our decisions, which
instead have focused on whether the evidence was relevant and not
unfairly prejudicial. See Herman v. State, 122 Nev. 199, 208-09, 128 P.3d
469, 474-75 (2006); Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 781-82, 839 P.2d 578, 585-

86 (1992). Specifically, in Guy we concluded that the confidential nature

INRS 175.5562(3) provides that during a penalty hearing, “evidence
may be presented concerning aggravating and mitigating circumstances
relative to the offense, defendant or victim and on any other matter which
the court deems relevant to sentence, whether or not the evidence is
ordinarily admissible.”
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of a PSI does not render it inadmissible under NRS 175.552(3). Guy, 108

Nev. at 781-82, 839 P.2d at 585-86. We reaffirm that while PSIs are to be

kept confidential and not made part of the public record, their confidential

nature does not in and of itself preclude their admission at capital

sentencing hearings. |
Evidence of prior arrests

Chappell claims that the PSIs should not have been admitted

because they included prejudicial information about prior arrests that did
not result in convictions. This court has held that evidence of police
investigations and uncharged crimes is admissible at a capital penalty
hearing only if the evidence is not “impalpable or highly suspect.” Gallego
v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 369, 23 P.3d 227, 241 (2001); see also Leonard v.
State, 114 Nev. 1196, 1214, 969 P.2d 288, 299 (1998); Homick v. State, 108
Nev. 127, 138, 825 P.2d 600, 607 (1992). We conclude that no error

occurred here for three reasons.

First, while the admitted PSIs did include information about
prior arrests, this information was minimized rather than emphasized by
the prosecution.

Second, the evidence presented in the PSIs about Chappell’s
criminal history was presented through other means. At the time the
district court admitted the redacted PSIs, the jury had already heard
testimony about Chappell’s numerous arrests in Michigan, Arizona, and
Nevada, and his history of drug abuse, theft, and violence. Thus, even
assuming error in their admission, the redacted PSIs listing Chappell’s
criminal history did not result in “actual prejudice or a miscarriage of

justice.” Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003).
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Third, the redacted PSIs were not introduced during the
State’s case-in-chief but as rebuttal evidence after the defense presented
its case in mitigation. The evidence in the PSIs rebutted Chappell’s
attempts to blame others for his actions and his requests for “another
chance.” The State never informed the jury of any of Chappell's prior
unresolved offenses. Therefore, we conclude that Chappell fails to
demonstrate plain error respecting the admission of the PSIs on this basis.

Other statements in the PSIs

Chappell claims that he was prejudiced because the PSIs
incorrectly stated that Panos had a protective order in place at the time
that she was murdered. Evidence adduced at trial indicated that the
protective order had been vacated before Chappell killed Panos. Despitfe
the apparent error, Chappell’'s substantive rights were not affected
because the prosecution never commented on the error and compelling
evidence showed the domestic viclence Chappell inflicted on Panos before
her death. Thus, he fails to demonstrate plain error.

In addition, Chappell claims that he was prejudiced by the
admission of a statement of Panos’ mother in the 1996 PSI that “[t]he SOB
does not deserve to live.” Chappell argues that the statement was
inadmissible but does not explain how this statement affected his
substantial rights. This statement was not brought to the jury’s attention,
and it is clear from the context that this statement was a mother’s
expression of grief and not the government’s sentencing recommendation.
We therefore conclude that admission of this statement was not plain

error.
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Chappell’s written statement

Finally, Chappell argues that the district court erroneously
admitted his written statement attached to one of the PSIs because it was
obtained in violation of his constitutional rights. Unlike the previous
claims, Chappell objected to the admission of the PSI on this ground.
Therefore, the district court’s decision to admit the statement is reviewed

for an abuse of discretion. See Herman, 122 Nev. at 208, 128 P.3d at 474.

At a hearing on the matter, Chappell objected to the
admission of his written statement because he did not receive Miranda
warnings before giving it. The district court recounted the process by
which PSI statements are obtained after conviction and found that the
process for obtaining the statement was a voluntary one that did not give
rise to a Miranda warning.

“Miranda affects the admissibility of statements made during
‘in-custody interrogation.” Hernandez v. State, 124 Nev. __, _ , 194
P.3d 1235, 1242 (2008) (quoting Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 445
(1966)). The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has held

that even if a routine post-conviction, pre-sentence interview is technically
an in-custody interrogation, it does not entail those pressures that “the
Miranda Court found so inherently coercive as to require its holding.”
Baumann v. United States, 692 F.2d 565, 577 (9th Cir. 1982) (quoting
Beckwith v. United States, 425 U.S. 341, 347 (1976)), holding limited by
U.S. v. Herrera-Figueroa, 918 F.2d 1430, 1433 (9th Cir. 1990) (requiring

probation officers to permit defendants to have their attorneys present at

presentence interviews). Thus, the Ninth Circuit has declined to require
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Miranda warnings before routine presentence interviews with probation
officers. Id. We conclude that this analysis logically extends to written
statements submitted as part of the presentence interview process.

Moreover, NRS 175.552(3) states that a district court has
discretion to admit any evidence “which the court deems relevant to
sentence, whether or not the evidence is ordinarily admissible.” Thus,
even if Chappell’s statement was normally inadmissible due to the failure
to give Miranda warnings, it was relevant and admissible evidence at the
penalty hearing. We therefore conclude that the district court did not
abuse its discretion in admitting Chappell’s statement.

Victim impact testimony

Chappell claims that the district court erred by permitting the
prosecution to introduce “excessive victim impact testimony.” Specifically,
Chappell argues that the district court erred in admitting (1) victim
impact testimony of people who were not family members of the victim
and (2) victim impact testimony that was not included in the State’s notice
pursuant to SCR 250(4)(f). During the penalty hearing, the district court
overruled Chappell’s objection to any victim impact testimony by persons
outside of Panos’ family. A district court’s “decision to admit particular
evidence during the penalty phase 1s within the sound discretion of the
district court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of that
discretion.” Johnson v. State, 122 Nev. 1344, 1353, 148 P.3d 767, 774
(2006) (quoting McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 1057, 102 P.3d 606,
616 (2004)) (quotation marks omitted). However, Chappell did not object

on the grounds of insufficient notice and thus his second claim is reviewed
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for plain error affecting his substantial rights. See Archanian v. State,

122 Nev. 1019, 1031, 145 P.3d 1008, 1017 (2006).

The testimony of which Chappell complains relates to both
claims. In particular, several of Panos’ friends testified to abuse that
Chappell inflicted upon Panos prior to her death and her fear of him. At
the end of their testimony, these witnesses made brief statements about
how Panos’ death had affected them. Chappell claims that not only was
their testimony improper because they were not family members of the
victim, but that he did not receive adequate notice of their potential
testimony.

With respect to Chappell’s claim about the victim impact
testimony of non-family members, “this court has held that individuals
outside the victim’s family can present victim impact evidence.” Wesley v.

State, 112 Nev. 503, 519, 916 P.2d 793, 804 (1996). Therefore, the district

court did not abuse its discretion in permitting victim impact testimony by
Panos’ close friends.

With respect to the notice issue, SCR 250(4)(f) requires the
State to file a notice of evidence in aggravation at least 15 days before
trial. SCR 250(4)(f) applies not only to evidence in support of the
enumerated aggravating circumstances but to “any evidence which the
State intends to introduce.” Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 561, 51 P.3d
521, 525 (2002). Here, each of the five witnesses named by Chappell were

listed in the State’s Notice of Evidence. But because these witnesses were
primarily used to establish the aggravating evidence, they were listed in
the section entitled “Aggravating Circumstance,” rather than in the

section entitled “Other Evidence.” Chappell essentially claims that
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because these witnesses were not listed in both sections, he did not have
adequate notice of their potential victim impact testimony.

We conclude that even if the State provided inadequate notice
of the challenged witnesses respecting their victim impact testimony,
Chappell fails to demonstrate that he was prejudiced. Defense counsel
cross-examined each of the five witnesses and the record does not reveal
that counsel was caught unaware by the testimony. Furthermore, the
witnesses Chappell identifies testified mainly about their observations of
Chappell and his relationship with Panos and merely concluded their
testimony with a brief statement of the physical or emotional affect of
Panos’ death. Because only two family members testified as to victim
impact at the hearing, the testimony of these five witnesses did not result
in the presentation of excessive victim impact evide_;lce. Accordingly,
Chappell fails to demonstrate prejudice affecting his substantial rights.

Admission of Chappell’s guilt-phase testimony

Chappell claims that the district court erred in permitting the
State to introduce his testimony from his first trial. Chappell objected to
the admission of his prior testimony on the ground that it was the result of
ineffective assistance of counsel. Normally, “a defendant’s testimony at a
former trial is admissible in evidence against him in later proceedings.”
Harrison v. United States, 392 U.S. 219, 222 (1968); Byford v. State, 116
Nev. 215, 225, 994 P.2d 700, 707 (2000). However, prior testimony 18 not
admissible if it implicates a constitutional viclation during the trial in

which it was obtained. Byford, 116 Nev. at 225, 994 P.2d at 707.

Although a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel implicates the Sixth
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Amendment, see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), Chappell

offered no explanation of how his trial counsel’s performance was deficient
or how his trial testimony was the result of that deficiency. Therefore, we
conclude that the district court did not err in admitting this evidence.

Prosecutorial misconduct

Chappell asserts that the prosecution committed several
instances of misconduct warranting a new penalty hearing. Chappell only
objected to one instance he identifies in this appeal: the prosecutor's
comment on his right to remain silent. He failed to object to all others.

Comment on Chappell's right to remain silent

Chappell argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by
introducing his prior trial testimony because the transcript included an
improper comment on Chappell’s right to remain silent. In particular,
Chappell contends that the State’s suggestion that he had a “substantial
period of time” to think about what he would tell the jury about the events
constituted an improper comment on his right to remain silent. This court
reviews allegations of improper argument to determine whether the
“prosecutor's statements so infect[ed] the proceedings with unfairness as
to make the results a denial of due process.” Browning v. State, 124 Nev.
., __,188P.3d 60, 72 (2008) (quoting Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 47,
83 P.3d 818, 825 (2004)), cert. denied, U.S. _ , 129 8. Ct. 1625 (2009).

Even if the State’s comments can be considered an “implied”
comment on Chappell’s right to remain silent, this court has previously
held that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chappell v.

State, Docket No. 43493 (Order of Affirmance, April 7, 2006).
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Furthermore, in light of the evidence presented at Chappell’'s second
penalty hearing, this questioning did not “so infect[ ] the proceedings with
unfairness as to make the results a denial of due process.” Thomas, 120

Nev, at 47, 83 P.3d at 825.

Comparative worth

Chappell claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct by
comparing the worth of Panos and himself. Chappell failed to object to the
challenged comment; therefore, his claim is reviewed for plain error
affecting his substantial rights. See Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019,
1031, 145 P.3d 1008, 1017 (2006). We conclude that Chappell fails to

demonstrate plain error.

Chappell relies on the United States Supreme Court’s decision
in Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808 (1991). However, while Payne

“orohibits comparisons that suggest that there are worthy and unworthy
victims™ it “does not prohibit character comparisﬁns between defendants
and victims.” Humphries v. Ozmint, 397 F.3d 206, 219 (4th Cir. 2005)
(quoting Humphries v. State, 570 S.E.2d 160, 167-68 (5.C. 2002)).

[ €19

[C]learly established Supreme Court precedent does not prohibit victim-
to-defendant comparisons; they are inevitable in any capital case in which
the jury is asked to assess the persuasive force of the defendant’s
mitigating evidence and the victim-impact evidence.” Hall v. Catoe, 601
S.E.2d 335, 340 n.4 (S.C. 2004) (quoting Humphries v. Ozmint, 366 F.3d
266, 288 (4th Cir. 2004) (Hamilton, J., dissenting), vacated en banc, 397
F.3d 206 (4th Cir. 2005)). Therefore, Chappell fails to demonstrate plain

error.
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The role of mitigating circumstances

Chappell argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct
when he argued that the difficulties in Chappell's life did not justify his
conduct. In particular, he argues that the prosecutor's commentary
“foreclosed the jury's consideration of mitigating evidence” and thus
violated his constitutional rights. Because Chappell failed to object to this
argument, his claim is reviewed for plain error.

At the penalty hearing, Chappell presented mitigating
evidence that (1) he suffered from substance abuse, (2) he had no father
figure in his life, (3) his mother died when he was very young, (4} he was
raised in an abusive household, (5) he was the victim of physical abuse as
a child, (6) he was the victim of mental abuse as a child, (7) he was born to
a drug and alcohol addicted mother, (8) he had a learning disability, (9) he
was raised in a depressed housing area, and (10) he was involved in a
racially tense relationship. Dr. Lewis Etcoff, a psychologist, testified that
because of Chappell’s upbringing, he had less free will than the average
person.

The State is entitled to rebut evidence relating to a

' defendant’s “character, childhood, mental impairments, etc.” Thomas v.

State, 122 Nev. 1361, 1368, 148 P.3d 727, 732 (2006). Therefore, the State
properly argued that Chappell’s personal history did not “take away his
actions.” Furthermore, the jury was properly instructed on the role of
mitigating evidence and in fact found seven mitigating circumstances.

This belies Chappell’s claim that the prosecutor foreclosed the jury from

| considering the mitigating evidence. Accordingly, we conclude that

Chappell fails to demonstrate plain error.

23
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Argument that jury should not be “conned” by Chappell

Chappell contends that the prosecution committed misconduct
when it told the jury not to be “conned” by Chappell. Because he failed to
object to this comment, his claim is reviewed for plain error.

During closing argument, the prosecutor pointed out that Dr.
Etcoff's testimony was based on Chappell's own statements and that
Chappell had lied to Dr. Etcoff during their interview. The prosecutor also
argued that Chappell was only able to kill Panos because he had “conned”
the probation officer into believing that he was trying to change and could
be trusted to check into a rehabilitation facility without an escort. The
prosecutor told the jury not to be “conned” in the same way into believing
that Chappell was going to change.

The State’s argument was based on the evidence presented to
the jury and was not inflammatory as Chappell suggests. Therefore, we
conclude Chappell fails to demonstrate plain error.

“No mercy” argument

Chappell claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct by
arguing to the jury that mercy was not an appropriate consideration.
Because Chappell failed to object to the challenged comment, his claim is
reviewed for plain error.

Chappell’s claim is belied by the record. While the prosecutor
naturally emphasized justice and punishment, he also stated, “Is there a
place for mercy in murder cases? There is. There is. That's something
that you need to consider.” He also stated, “You don’t just owe James
Chappell the consideration of mercy, you owe the victims and the State of

Nevada a just sentence as well.” The prosecutor’s argument did not direct
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the jury to ignore mercy but to consider both justice and mercy, suggesting
that considerations of mercy in this case did not outweigh the demands of
justice. Because the prosecutor's argument was proper, Chappell fails to
demonstrate plain error.

Jury instructions on weighing mitigators and aggravators

Chappell argues that the district court erred by failing to
instruct the jury that the State had the burden to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the
aggravating circumstances. Because Chappell did not object to this
instruction or proffer an alternative, his claim is reviewed for plain error.

Chappell bases his argument on United States Supreme Court

jurisprudence requiring any fact that operates to increase a defendant’s

penalty to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. See Blakely v.
Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 301-02 (2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530
U.S. 466, 490 (2000). However, while the aggravating factors must be

found beyond a reasonable doubt, the weighing of the aggravating and
mitigating factors is not a fact to be found by the jury, but rather a
subjective process. Thus, the applicable statutes do not impose the

“beyond a reasonable doubt” standard on the weighing process.? And this

BNRS 200.030(4)(a), which outlines the range of punishment for a
first-degree murder conviction, provides that death can be imposed “only if
one or more aggravating circumstances are found and any mitigating
circumstance or circumstances which are found do not outweigh the
aggravating circumstance or circumstances.” NRS 175.554(3), which
addresses jury instructions, determinations, findings and the verdict,

continued on next page . ..
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court has repeatedly declined to impose such a requirement. See, e.g.,
DePasquale v. State, 106 Nev. 843, 852, 803 P.2d 218, 223 (1990); Gallego
v, State, 101 Nev. 782, 789-91, 711 P.2d 856, 862-63 (1985); Ybarra v.
State, 100 Nev. 167, 679 P.2d 797 (1984). Accordingly, we conclude that

the instructions given accurately reflected Nevada law and that Chappell

fails to demonstrate plain error.

Mitigating circumstances not found by the jury

Chappell asserts that the jury failed to find mitigating
circumstances that were “clearly established and uncontested,” requiring
vacation of his sentence. Chappell fails to cite any relevant authority
supporting his contention. This court has previously held that jurors are
not required to find proffered mitigating circumstances simply because
there is unrebutted evidence to support them. See Thomas, 122 Nev. at
1370, 148 P.3d at 733; Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 366-67, 23 P.3d 227,
240 (2001); Hollaway v. State, 116 Nev. 732, 744, 6 P.3d 987, 995-56
(2000); Thomas v. State, 114 Nev. 1127, 1149, 967 P.2d 1111, 1125 (1998).

Nevada law permits the jury to decide, even if the evidence supports the
factual basis for a mitigating circumstance, whether the proposed

mitigator actually extenuates or reduces the defendant’s moral culpability.

.. .continued

states that “[tjhe jury may impose a sentence of death only if it finds at
least one aggravating circumstance and further finds that there are no
mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating
circumstance or circumstances found.”
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In this case, the jury found seven of the thirteen mitigating circumstances
offered by the defense. We conclude that the failure of the jury to find all
of the proffered mitigators did not deprive Chappell of his constitutional
rights and that no relief is warranted on this claim.

Guilt phase jury instructions

Chappell raises two claims of error regarding jury instructions
given at the guilt phase of his trial. First, Chappell argues that the
premeditation instruction commonly known as the Kazalyn instruction,
Kazalyn v. State, 108 Nev. 67, 8256 P.2d 578 (1992), receded from by
Bvford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000), was erroneous and

prejudicial.® Second, he contends that the jury was not properly
instructed on the elements of felony murder.

Chappell acknowledges that his present appeal is from a
second penalty hearing, but he argues that he is entitled to raise claims
from the guilt phase of his trial because his conviction is not yet final. See
Colwell v. State, 118 Nev. 807, 820, 59 P.3d 463, 472 (2002) (“A conviction

becomes final when judgment has been entered, the availability of appeal
has been exhausted, and a petition for certiorari to the Supreme Court has
been denied or the time for such a petition has expired.”). Chappell's

claim is meritless.

8Chappell’s challenge to the Kazalyn instruction was previously
raised as a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel during post-
conviction proceedings. This court affirmed the district court’s denial of
relief on that claim. Chappell v. State, Docket No. 43493 (Order of
Affirmance, April 7, 2006).
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This court previously affirmed Chappeil’s murder conviction,
Chappell v. State, 114 Nev. 1403, 972 P.2d 838 (1998), and the United

States Supreme Court denied certiorari, 528 U.S. 853 (1999). The relief
granted to Chappell during post-conviction proceedings was expressly

limited to the penalty phase. Chappell v. State, Docket No. 43493 (Order

of Affirmance, April 7, 2006). Thus, the jury's determination of Chappell’s
guilt was final when certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme
Court on October 4, 1999. See, e.g., Phillips v. Vasquez, 56 F.3d 1030,
1033 (9th Cir. 1995) (holding that under California’s bifurcated death

penalty process, a conviction for murder 1s final even when the death
sentence has been reversed and i1s not yet final); People v. Kemp, 517 P.2d

826, 828 (Cal. 1974) (concluding retrial of penalty issue does not change

fact that defendant’s judgment became final when United States Supreme
Court denied defendant’s petition for writ of certiorari); People v. Jackson,

429 P.2d 600, 602 (Cal. 1967) (stating that an “original judgment on the

issue of guilt remains final during the retrial of the penalty issue and
during all appellate proceedings reviewing the trial court’s decision on
that issue”). We therefore decline to address these claims on the merits.
Even if this court were to consider Chappell’s claim regarding
the Kazalyn instruction, this court recently concluded in Nika v. State,
124 Nev. ___, 198 P.3d 839 (2008), that Byford does not apply to cases that
were final when it was decided. Id. at ___, 198 P.3d at 849-50. Byford was

decided on February 28, 2000; Chappell’s conviction was final on October
4, 1999. Accordingly, neither our decision in Byford nor the Ninth
Circuit’s decision in Polk v. Sandoval, 503 F.3d 903 (9th Cir. 2007),

provides Chappell with grounds for relief.
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Cumulative error

Chappell claims that his death sentence should be reversed as
the result of cumulative error. “The cumulative effect of errors may
violate a defendant’s constitutional right to a fair trial even though errors
are harmless individually.” Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 535, 50
P.3d 1100, 1115 (2002). However, a defendant is not entitled to a perfect
trial, merely a fair one. Ennis v. State, 91 Nev. 530, 533, 539 P.2d 114,

115 (1975). Based on the foregoing discussion of Chappell’s claims, we
conclude that any error in this case, when considered either individually
or cumulatively, does not warrant relief.

Mandatory appellate review of the death sentence

NRS 177.055(2) requires that this court review every death
sentence and consider:

{¢) Whether the evidence supports the finding
of an aggravating circumstance or circumstances;

(d) Whether the sentence of death was imposed
under the influence of passion, prejudice or any
arbitrary factor; and

(e) Whether the sentence of death 18 excessive,
considering both the crime and the defendant.

With respect to the first question, we previously concluded
that there was sufficient evidence to support the sexual assault
aggravating circumstance.

With respect to the second question, although the evidence
presented at Chappell’s penalty hearing showed him to be a man who had
physically abused his girlfriend and the mother of his chiidren for a long

period of time before he sexually assaulted and stabbed her thirteen times,
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nothing in the record demonstrates that the jury’s verdict was the result of
passion, prejudice, or any other arbitrary factor. Despite Chappell’s
claims that he was subjected to an unfair penalty hearing on the grounds
outlined above, any error committed did not unduly prejudice him or serve
to inflame the jury.

Finally, we must consider whether the death sentence is
excessive. The evidence shows that Chappell had beaten Panos and stolen
from her and their children to support his drug habit for almost a decade
before he was incarcerated. Immediately after being released from
custody, he went to Panos’ home, beat her, sexually assaulted her, and
stabbed her thirteen times. Chappell’s mitigating evidence highlighting
his troubled upbringing and his drug addiction and expert testimony
suggesting that he did not have the same level of “free will” as the average
person was weakened by rebuttal evidence demonstrating that Chappell
had a history of blaming others for his problems and his behavior. And in
fact, while Chappell admitted to killing Panos, he continued to blame her,
at least in part, for her murder at his hands. Chappell also had a lengthy
criminal history that included repeated acts of domestic violence, and
evidence adduced during the penalty hearing demonstrated that he had a
general disregard for the well-being of others. Based on these
considerations, we conclude that the jury’s decision to impose the death

penalty was not excessive.
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Having considered Chappell’s claims and concluded that they

are without merit, we

ORDER the judgment of conviction AFFIRMED.?

/-\cu« ,&,.:ﬁ;‘ , C.J.

Hardesty

Pickering

cc:  Hon. Douglas W. Herndon, District Judge
- Special Public Defender David M. Schieck
Attorney General Catherine Cortez Masto/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney David J. Roger
Eighth District Court Clerk

"The Honorable Michael L. Douglas, Justice, voluntarily recused
himself from participation in the decision of this matter.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES MONTELL CHAPPELL, No. 49478

Appellant,
V8. ~
THE STATE OF NEVADA, FI L E D
Respondent. DEC 16 2009
TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
DEPUTY GLE

ORDER DENYING REHEARING AND AMENDING ORDER

This petition for rehearing challenges an order entered by this
court on October 20, 2009, affirming appellant James Chappell’'s sentence
of death. Although we deny rehearing, Chappell justifiably complains of
an error in the order of affirmance, and we therefore amend the order of
affirmance to remove the challenged passage.

In the order of affirmance, this court denied Chappell’s claim
that a written statement made during a presentence interview with his

probation officer was obtained in violation of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S.

436 (1966), concluding that Miranda did not apply at that stage of the
proceedings. We also stated that the Nevada statutes permitted
admission of the evidence at a capital sentencing hearing even if it was
obtained in violation of Miranda. That statement was erroneous. See
NRS 175.552(3) (“No evidence which was secured in violation of the
Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of

Nevada may be introduced.”). However, the erroneous statement was not

necessary to our disposition of the claim given our conclusion that
Miranda did not apply.
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Therefore, we direct the clerk of this court to strike the
following language from page 18, lines 4-9, of the order of affirmance:

Moreover, NRS 175.552(3) states that a district
court has discretion to admit any evidence “which
the court deems relevant to sentence, whether or
not the evidence is ordinarily admaissible.” Thus,
even if Chappell's statement was normally
inadmissible due to the failure to give Miranda
warnings, it was relevant and admissible evidence
at the penalty hearing.

It 1s so ORDERED.!

/-&c«,\p&a:ﬂ;,‘ , CJd.

Hardesty

Parraguirre

3 N | , J
@&L Gibbons
pﬁ ’ .

Pickering

10n November 4, 2009, this court received proper person documents
from Chappell. However, Chappell is represented by counsel and we have
not granted him leave to proceed in proper person. See NRAP 46(b).
Accordingly, we decline to consider Chappell’'s proper person documents
and direct the clerk of this court to return them, unfiled, to Chappell.
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CC:

Hon. Douglas W. Herndon, District Judge

Special Public Defender David M. Schieck

Attorney General Catherine Cortez Masto/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney David J. Roger

Eighth District Court Clerk

James Montell Chappell
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| JAMES CHAPPELL.
| #1212860

Electronically Filed

11/16/2012 11:09:30 AM

FCL . b W

STEVEN B, WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
{ Nevada Bar #001563 a

STEVEN 8. OWENS
Chief Deputy District Attorney

| Nevada Bar #004332

i 200 Lowis Avenue

i Las Vegas, Nevada 891355-2212
{702y 6712500

1 Attorney for Plaintift

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintitf,

CASE NO:  95C131341

e . DEPTNO; V

_ Defendant, O

R

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS
OF LAW AND ORDER
DATE OF HEARING: 10/19/12
TIME OF HEARING: 10:00 A.M.

This Cause having come on ﬁ):;r hearing before the Honorable CAROLYN

ELLSWORTH, District Judge, for argumeré&i' on the 19" day of October, 2012, the Petitioner ,
not bemg present and in custody, repr&sefmmd by CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ., the
Respondent being represented by ST H}«N B, WOLFSON, Distriet Aftorney, by and
- through STEVEN S, OWENS, Chief [)éf:puty District Aftorney., and the Court having |
. considered the matter, including briefs, traﬁsm*iptsﬂ arguments of counsel, and documents on
tile herem, this Court now makes the faﬁam}ing Findings Of Fact and Conclusions Of Law.
In 1996, Chappell was convicted éand sentenced to death for murdering his ex-
girliriend, Deborah Panos, by entering hc;. mobtle home through a window, sexually ;

| assaulting her, and then repeatedly stabbing her with a kitchen knife. Chappell v. State, 114

i Nev, 1403, 672 P.2d 838 {1998}, The -c@nvicﬁms and death sentence were affirmed on
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i petition filed on June 22, 2010,

appeal. Id. Remittitur issued on (}Ett‘}bi’:}if’ 26, 1999, Thereafier, a timely post-conviction
petition was {iled and an evidentiary heari%tag was conducted. The district court then denied
all post-conviction claims as to guilt, but ;graﬂted a new penalty hearing due to ineffective
assistance of counsel for failing to call mmmn mitigation witnesses.  The decision was

affirmed on appeal in an unpublished ord%r on April 7, 2006. (SC #43493). After a new

penalty hearing in 2007, the jary again returned a death sentence which was affirmed on
- appeal in an unpublished order on October 20, 2009. (SC # 49478). Remittitur issued on

i June 8, 2010. Chappell initiated the curfent post-conviction proceedings with a pro per |

FINDINGS OF FACT

penalty heartag counsel, and first appellate counsel are procedurally barred or moot due to
the granting of a new penalty hearing. The current petition was filed more than ten years |
aller Remittitur from direct appeal issued on October 26, 1999, in excess of the one-year |

time bar. Chappell fails to demonstrate good cause or prejudice for this excessive delay, and |

| a petition addressing these claims was already heard and decided by this Court and the

- Nevada Supreme Court, thus his claims are successive, The State also alhirmatively pleads

iaches under NRS 34,800, and this Court igrt,u that NRS 34.800 bars review since well over
five {3) vears have clapsed between the ﬁljing of the Nevada Supreme Court’s decision on
direct appeal and the filing of Chappell’s éclaims it the mstant June 22, 2010 petition. In
1996, Chappell was granted a new pena}t;y hearing and the Judgment of Conviction was
vacated only msofar as the death Sﬁmemg:-e was concerned.  Thus, the convictions have

remained valid and final and any claims regarding ineffective assistance of trial counsel, first |

i penalty hearing counsel, and first appellate counsel, are procedurally barred and are hereby

dented.
Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during the second penalty hearing are
denied as this Court finds no deficient performance such that the cutcome of the proceedings

would have been different. Even though live testimony from James Ford and Ivei Marrell

2 FAWPDOUSFORSIRE0S 1401 dog
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- witnesses o rebut the sexual assault ag

- was not presented, the jury heard a summary of their testimony the substance of which was

also presented through other witnesses z—md%tberefmm this Court finds no prejudice. Chappell
fatls to demonstrate what a more adequate él}\restigatim of his history in Arizona would have
shown that would have achieved a betier refsuit at his penalty hearing.

Ths Court fimds that counsel was nim‘ meffective in failing to retain an expert in pre-
gjaculation fluid in order to explain the praéegenc‘e of Chappell’s semen in the victim despite
his claim that he withdrew prior to ¢ aﬁf:uiating. Counsel called three separate expert

o o2

gravator by showing the sexual intercourse was |

- consensual. A fourth expert specifically as to pre-ejaculation fluid containing sperm would

- not have changed the outcome in light of all the other evidence bearing on the issue of |

consent,

Nor was counsel meffective in iﬁ&iling to obtain a P.E T, scan or brain imaging for
ketal Alcohol Syndrome. Counsel did im-e?stigate Chappell’s overall mental capabilities and
presented experts who testified that Chappiﬁll had borderline personality disorder and an 1Q
of 80 n the low/average range. Cmsideririgg that the jury found that Chappell was born to a
drug and alcobol addicted mother, leppall fails to demonstrate that obtaining a P.E.T. scan
and/or brain tmaging, even if these tests x'-'.éfouid have revealed thai Chappell did have Fetal

Alcohal Syndrome, would have led o a mﬂﬁr& favorable outcome at his penalty hearing.

Sunply becanse the State was able to effectively cross examine Chappell’s experts

- and impeach a lay witness with his prior inconsistent statement, does not demonstrate that

defense counsel was in any way ineffective. This claim is belied by the nine witnesses |

called by counsel whose testimony resuj&t&d in the jury’s finding of seven mitigating |
circumstances. Chappell fails 1o show a 1‘&;519{}11317 le probability that the result of his penalty
hearing would have been any different had the witnesses testified differently or had counsel |
better prepared them. I

Counsel had no valid reason to ﬂb‘iﬂfc‘t fo the admission of the PSI reports, which on :

 direct appeal were found not to have affected Chappell’s substantial rights. Fven if an |

objection mvight have been sustained, Chappell fails to demonstrate that the exclusion or

3 PAWEDOCSIEORSONSNR 1461 doc
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redaction of the PS1's would have changed the outcome of the penalty hearing.

The failure to object to lack of notice and cumulative victim impact testimony was not

prejudicial. On appeal, the testimony was found not to be overly excessive and this Court

finds the alleged errors would not have been found prejudicial under either a plain or
| harmless error analysis on appeal.

The failure 1o object to allegations of prosecutorial misconduct later raised on appeal |

have been sustained and would not have resulted in any prejudice on appeal under either a |

plain or harmless error standard.

As {0 new claims of prosecutorial i‘iiliSC-DnduEt_, an objection was made and sustained
as to the first instance, therefore resulting m no reversible prejudice had the 1ssue been raised
on appeal. The other two instances of aﬁ%ged misconduct actually constitute fair comment
on the evidence and any objection W{}uhéﬂ not have been sustained and would not have
changed the outcome of the case. :

Any prejudice from the failure o ob;ppl to the prosecutor’s impeachment of Ired
Dean was mimimal considering the witness éwas a convicted felon and the jury still found the

existence of seven mitigating circumstances, Chappell has failed to demonstrate the

i outcome would have been different if the impeachment details had not been elicited.

Chappell’s claims that the trial judge erred in admitting improper other bad act

' evidence, that the death penalty scheme in Nevada is unconstitutional, and that the jury was

- incorrectly instructed on premeditation and deliberation, were appropriate for direct appeal

and are thus procedurally barred. Chappell fails to articulate good cause or prejudice to

explain his procedural default and these claims must therefore be denied. Many of these

Iy
}
§
\

clains were raised and denied on direct appeal, and thus are also barred by law of the case.

This Const finds that the cumulative prejudice of any alleged errors in counsel’s

performance at the second penalty hearing is insufficient to have aliered the outcome of the |

gase and therelore denies this claim,

4 PAWPDOCOFORS08 3081 1401, doc
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- change the outcome of his case,

All of Chappell’s claims can be resolved without expanding the record, especially

considering Chappell’s claims have been either waived, are procedurally barred, or are .

- otherwise not cognizable as bare or conclugory allegations. Even accepting all of Chappell’s

[ A

- allegations as true, the alleged errors of counsel would not have changed the outcome of the |
| second penalty hearing. Thus, it {s not necessary to expand the record in order to resolve this |

- petition and the request for an evidentiary hearing is denied.

Finally, Chappell’s motions for discpvery and for appointment of various experts and |

and an Investigator are hare and conclusory, and this Court has determined that an
evidentiary hearing and expansion of the record are unnecessary to resolve the claims in the |
petition. There is no demonstrable need or good cause for a P.E.T. scan or “full neurclogical

exam” in light of a pre-existing neurological examination and mental health experis obtained |

oy

"

by prior counsel.  Even if brain imaginé cotdd reveal that Chappell suffers from Fetal
Alechol Syvadrome, which has no spac-iﬁ’éc or uniformly accepted diagnostic criteria, this
Court has already accepted such aliega‘ticmséi as true and found it would not have changed the :
outcome, especially considering the jury ﬁé}uﬂd as a miligaling circumstances that Chappell

was born to a drug and alcohol addicted mother. Chappell fails to make any specific

- allegation as to what these experts and investigators would uncover that could possibly

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
NRS 34.726(1) states that unless good cause is shown for the delay, a petition that

challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence filed more than one year afler entry of the |

judgment of conviction, or if appeal has been taken more than one vear after the Supreme |

Court issues its remittitur, is time-barred. Good cause for the delay exists if the petitioner
demonsirates to the satisfaction of the court that the delay was not his fault and the dismissal |
of the petition as untimely would andaly prejudice him. Id, The one-year time bar is strictly

construed. Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 39{}.,5 393, 590 P.3d 901, 902 (2002),

A second or successive petition may be dismissed if the judge or justice determines |

Lrs
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that ® fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was

on the merits. NRS 34.810(2). A {if:‘:fendafm myust also demonstrate good cause and actual
prejudice to overcome the successive psiiti(ém bar. 1d.

NRS 34,800 creales a rebuttable pre;f‘;sumpti{}n of prejudice to the State if a defendant
allows more than five years to elapse bctm,i,n the filing of the Judgment of Conviction, or a

decision on direct appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, and the filing of a post-conviction

- petition. The statute requires that the State plead laches in its motion to dismiss the petition.

A conviction qualifies as final when judgment has been entered, the availability of |

i appeal has been exbausted, and a Petition for Certiorari to the Supreme Court has been |

denied or the time for the petition has t:}{pi?.‘ed. Colwell v, State, 118 Nev, 807, 59 P.3d 463

I (2002). The 9™ Circuit Court of Appeals has recognized that a conviction remains final even |

though a case may be sent back for re-sentencing. Phillips v. Vasquez, 56 F.3d 1030 (9% |

Cir. 1995). A conviction for murder is a final judgment even when the death penalty |

sentence has been reversed and is not vet §':ﬁns:ﬂ., People v, Jackson, 60 Cal Rptr. 248, 250,
429 P.2d 600, 602 {1967). When a judgment is vacated only insofar as it relates to the death

penalty, “the original judgment on the issue of guilt remains final during retrial of the

ponalty issue and during all appellate _prﬂC€§ﬁdiilgS ... People v. Kemp, 111 CalRptr, 362,
564, 517 P.2d 826, 828 (1974). :

In order to assert a claim for im:ﬁhcté*ivc assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove
that he was denied “reasonably etfective a%sist:—mce” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong
rest set forth in Strickland v, Washington, §4{i6 LIS, 668, 686-87, 104 S8.Ct, 2032, 2063-64

(1984). Under this test, the defendant must show: first, that his counsel's representation fell

below an objective standard of reasonabléness, and second, that but for counsel's errors,

 there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different.

- See Strickland, 466 1.8, at 687088, 694 “Effective counsel does not mean erorless

counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is “[wlithin the range of competence demanded

o

537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975}, gquoting McMamii v. Richardson, 397 U8, 739, 771 (1970).
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' that claims asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific |

A defendant who alleges a failure to investigate must demonsirate how a better

investigation would have benefited his case and changed the outcome of the proceedings.

Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 87 P.3d 533 (2004). Such a defendamt must allege with

specificity what the investigation would have revealed and how it would have altered the

outcome of the trial. United States v. Porter, 924 F.2d 395, 397 (ist Cir. 1991),
Furthermore, it is well established that a claim of ineffective assistance of counse! alleging a
failure to properly investigate will fail where the evidence or testimony sought does not -

exonerate or exculpate the defendant. If’g:i‘:ﬂﬁ v. Stale, 103 Nev, 850, 784 P.2d 951 {1989), |

in Hargrove v, State, 100 Nev, 498@_1 686 P.2d 222, the Nevada Supreme Court held |

factual allegations which, if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. “Bare” and “naked” |
allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record, Id,

In Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 335 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975), the Nevada

Supreme Court held that where the Court decides an issue on the merits, the Court’s ruling is |

faw of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. The Court further stated that “the law of

first appeal is the law of the case on Eﬁll subsequent appeals in which the facts are
substantially the same.” Id, at 313, 535 PZd at 798, h

If a petition can be resolved wit}{(}ut expanding the record, then no evidentiary
hearing is necessary, Marshall v, State, 110 Nev, 1328, 8§85 P.24 603 (1994); Mann v, Staie,
118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002). NRS 34.770 provides the manner in which |

bl s e

 the district court decides a post conviction proceeding: 1. The judge or justice, upon review

of the return, answer and all supporting docuwments which are filed, shall determine whether

| an evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be discharged or committed to the

- custody of a person other than the respondent unless an evidentiary hearing is held; 2. If the |

L

fudge or justice determines that the petitioner is not entitled to relief and an evidentiary
hearing 1s not required, he shall dismiss the petition without a hearing.
& | k 32

the United States Supreme Court recently explained that an evidentiary hearing is not |
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decision. Harmn gton v, Richter, 131 ‘%{f"‘t 770, 788 (2011). Although courts may not

indulge post hoc rationalization for counse 1 s decision making that contradicts the available

.-n-

2527 (2003}, There is a “strong premmptmn that counsel’s attention to certain issues to the

exclusion of others reflects trial tactics .l*ath;f::r than “sheer neglect.” 1d., citing Yarborough v, |

Gentry, 540 ULS, 1, 124 8.Cu 1 (2003). ?Striﬁkland calls for an inquiry in the ebjective |

reasonableness of counsel’s performance, nﬂi counsel’s subjective state of mind. 466 U.S
H&8, 104 8.Ct. 2052,
ORDER

THEREFORE, IT 1S HERERY C}FDELRED that the Petition for Post-Conviction

Relief shall be, and it is, hereby denied. The various motions for discovery, for appointment |

of experts, and for an Investigator are also denied.

DATED this day of November, 2012.
1'; R ’ ‘;‘HI--\':

- STEVEN B, WOLESON
- Clark County District f\‘immcv
- Nevada Bar #0013565 ,,

Lhm* f}z uu E}ibﬁ‘ld Attorney

Nevada Bar #004352
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES MONTELL CHAPPELL, No. 61967
Appellant,

. VS.

| THE STATE OF NEVADA, F 1L ED
Respondent.

JUN 18 200
| one SRR e
ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE ~ ev—Yiseust

This is an appeal from an order of the district court denying a
post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus in a death penalty case.
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County; Carolyn Ellsworth, Judge.

‘ Appellant James  Montell Chappell went to the home of
Deborah Panos, his ex-girlfriend and the mother of his three children,
sexually assaulted her, stabbed her to death with a kitchen knife, and left
the home with some of her property. A jury convicted Chappell of
burglary, robbery, and first-degree murder and sentenced him to death.
This court affirmed Chappell’s conviction and death sentence on direct
appeal. Chappell v. State (Chappell I), 114 Nev. 1403, 972 P.2d 838’_
(1998). Chappell sought post-conviction relief in the district court and was
granted a new penalty hearing. This court affirmed the judgment of the
| district court. Chappell v. Staté (Chappell I1), Docket No. 43493 (Order of
Affirmance, April 7, 2006). At the conclusion of the second penalty
hearing, the jury again sentenced Chappell to death. This court affirmed
the sentence on appeal. Chappell v. State (Chappell III), Docket No. 49478
(Order of Affirmance, October 20, 2009). In this appeal from the denial of

his first post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus following the
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second penalty hearing, Chappell argues that the district court erred in
| denying his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.!
Ineffective assistance of counsel
Chappell argues that the district court erred by denying
numerous claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel
without conducting an evidentiary hearing. “A claim of ineffective
| assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact, subject to
independent review,” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 622, 28 P.3d 498, 508
(2001), but the district court’s purely factual findings are entitled .to

IChappell also contends that the death penalty is unconstitutional
on three grounds: (1) the death penalty scheme fails to genuinely narrow
| death eligibility, a contention we have rejected, see State v. Harte, 124
Nev. 969, 972-73, 194 P.3d 1263, 1265 (2008); (2) the death penalty is
cruel and unusual, an argument we have rejected, see Gallego v. State, 117
Nev. 348, 370, 23 P.3d 227, 242 (2001); and (3) the death penalty is
! unconstitutional because executive clemency is unavailable, an argument
we have rejected, see Colwell v. State, 112 Nev. 807, 812, 919 P.2d 403,
406-07 (1996). He also contends that his conviction and sentence violate
the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. As he could have raised this claim
in the appeal taken from his judgment of conviction and he failed to assert
cause for the failure to do so or actual prejudice, the district court did not

! err in denying this claim. See NRS 34.810(1)b).

In addition, Chappell also contends that the district court erred in
| denying his claim that his' conviction violates due process based on an
| erroneous guilt phase instruction on premeditation and deliberation and

that all prior counsel were ineffective for not challenging the instruction.
This claim is not properly raised because the proceeding at issue is his
| second penalty hearing. See Chappell v. State (Chappell II), Docket No.
49478, at 27-28 (Order of Affirmance, October 20, 2009) -(concerning
Chappell's appeal from his second penalty hearing where this court
| concluded that Chappell's challenge to the premeditation murder
instruction was not properly before the court).
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deference. Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 179, 87 P.3d 528, 530 (2004).
Under the two-part test established by the United States Supreme Court
in Strickland v. Washington, a defendant must show (1) that counsel’s
performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2)
prejudice. 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 694 (1984); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev.
980, 987-88, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107, 1114 (1996). To prove ineffective
assistance of appellate counsel, a petitioner must demonstrate that
counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,
and but for counsel's errors, the omitted issue would have had a
reasonable probability of success on appeal. Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 998, 923
P.2d at 1114. “The defendant carries the affirmative burden of
establishing prejudice.” Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272,
278 (1994). A court need not consider both prongs of the Strickland test if
a defendant makes an insufficient showing on either prong. Strickland,
466 U.S. at 697. An evidentiary hearing is warranted only if a petitioner

raises claims supported by specific factual allegations that are not belied

by the record and, if true, would entitle him to relief. See Hargrove v.
State, 100 Nev. 498, 502-03, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

Fatlure to present testimony

Chappell contends that the district court erred in denying his
claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to introduce testimony
from James Ford and Ivri Morrell. We disagree. Chappell could not
demonstrate that, had he been able to introduce the testimony of Ford and
Morrell, he would not have been sentenced to death, because the subject
matter of Ford and Morrell's proffered testimony was substantially
covered by other witnesses. In particular, Benjamin Dean, Fred Dean,

and Mira King discussed the early stages of Chappell and Panos’
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relationship, King even provided broader testimony than could be
provided by Ford and Morrell. Further, Ford’s and Morrell’s. proffered
testimony about the beginning of the relationship was not compelling
considering the trajectory that the relationship- eventually followed:
Chappell physically abusing, threatening, and eventually murdering
Panos. Therefore, the district court did not err in denying this claim
without conducting an evidentiary hearing.
Fuailure to obtain an expert

Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his

claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to obtain an expert who

could have testified that pre-ejaculatory fluid may contain sperm, which
he claims would have reinforced his testimony instead of discrediting it.
We conclude that although counsel were deficient, Chappell failed to
demonstrate that he was prejudiced. The presence of sperm was not the
only evidence that supported the sexual assault aggravating circumstance
and undermined Chappell's testimony. Chappell had a history of abusing

Panos, wrote hostile and threatening letters to her, and threatened her in

court. Before his unexpected release from custody, Panos had planned to

move somewhere Chappell could not find her. Consequently, she became
terrified when she learned of Chappell’s release. While Chappell was at
Panos’ home, she attempted to engage in subterfuge to escape. In
addition, her body bore injuries indicating that she had been beaten 15 to
30 minutes before her murder. Given this evidence, Chappell did not
demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s failure to
introduce expert testimony on this issue, the jury would not have found

that the murder was committed during the course of a sexual assault.
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Therefore, the district court did not err in denying this claim without
conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Positron emission tomography (“P.E.T.”) scan

Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his
claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to obtain a P.E.T. scan
where there was some evidence that his mother was addicted to drugs and -
alcohol. He contends that a scan could have revealed indicia of Fetal
Alcohol Spectrum Disorders, which could cause physical, learning, and
behavioral problems. We conclude that the district court did not err in
denying this claim without conducting an evidentiary hearing. At the
second penalty hearing, trial counsel introduced expert testimony that
Chappell had a low IQ as well as cognitive deficits, which had been
supported by psychological testing and Chappell’s school records. As his
cognitive deficits had been extensively documented and the jury
nevertheless concluded that they were not sufficiently mitigating,
Chappell failed to demonstrate that counsel were deficient in not
obtaining a P.E.T. scan or that he would have benefited from a more
thorough investigation. See Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d
533, 538 (2004) (“Where counsel and the client in a criminal case clearly
understand the evidence and the permutations of proof and outcome,
counse] is not required to unnecessarily exhaust all available public or
private resources.”); see also State v. Powell, 122 Nev. 751, 759, 138 P.3d
453, 458 (2006) (“An attorney must make reasonable investigations or a

reasonable decision that particular investigations are unnecessary.” (citing

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 (1984))).
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Failure to prepare Dr. Lewts Etcoff to testify

Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his
claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to prepare psychologist
Dr. Lewis Etcoffs testimony. He contends that Dr. Etcoffs testimony
could have been more persuasive if he had not relied solely on Chappell's
statements but reviewed other evidence.? We conclude that Chappell
failed to demonstrate that had counsel better informed Dr. Etcoff the jury
would not have found the sexual assault aggravator. Dr. Etcoff provided
context for Chappell’s abuse in his relationship with Panos and explained
how his cognitive deficits contributed to the murder. Therefore, cross-
examination about further abuse and problems in the relationship did not
undermine his premise. Regardless of how informed the psychologist’s
opinion could have been, Chappell failed to show that it would have been
persuasive in light of the remaining evidence contradicting Chappell’s .
testimony. The evidence demonstrated that Panos ended her relationship
with Chappell, Chappell threatened to kill her, he absconded from the
parole office, snuck into her window, beat Panos; and killed her. Given
this evidence, Dr. Etcoff's opinion, even if it was as informed as Chappell

wanted it to be, would not have been persuasive enough to overcome the

2Chappell further argues that had counsel introduced an expert to
testify that pre-ejaculate could contain spermatozoa, Dr. Etcoff would not
have admitted that the presence of Chappell’s DNA in the victim rendered
Chappell's testimony unbelievable. As Dr. Etcoff testified about
Chappell’s psychological condition, it was not unreasonable for counsel to
have not anticipated questioning about the results of DNA evidence.
Moreover, as discussed above, Chappell failed to demonstrate counsel was
ineffective for failing to obtain such an expert.
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great weight of evidence demonstrating that any sexual conduct that
| occurred on the day of the murder was not consensual.
Failure to prepare Dr. William Danton to testify
Chappell argues that better preparation could have rendered
| clinical psychologist Dr. William Danton’s testimony more convincing. He
asserts that Dr. Danton’s testimony was unpersuasive because he (1) only
briefly met with Chappell, (2) contradicted Dr. Etcoff's opinion on whether
Chappell could remember the murder, and (3) conceded that it was
possible that Chappell forced Panos to have sex. We conclude that
Chappell failed to demonstrate that trial counsel performed deficiently in
their preparation of Dr. Danton. Dr. Danton’s testimony related to Panos
and her state of mind; therefore, it was not undermined by the decision to
not thoroughly evaluate Chappell. Moreover, Dr. Danton’s testimony
concerning whether Chappell blacked out during the murder is not
inconsistent with Dr. Etcoffs assessment. In addition, Chappell cannot
demonstrate that he was prejudiced by Dr. Danton’s acknowledgement
that Chappell could have forced Panos to have sex given the substantial
evidence showing that Chappell raped Panos. Therefore, Dr. Danton’s
acknowledgement that rape was at least a possibility, did not leave
Chappell’s defense in a worse position. The district court did not err in
denying this claim without conducting an evidentiary hearing.
Failure to prepare Dr. Todd Grey to testify
| Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his
claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to prepare Dr. Todd
Grey’s testimony by informing him of the presence of Chappell’s sperm in
| Panos’ body and the threats and prior abuse in Chappell and Panos’
relationship. We disagree. As Chappell’s testimony that he had
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consensual intercourse with the victim shortly before her murder but did
not ejaculate was not believable in light of the other evidence introduced
at trial, Dr. Grey’s acknowledgment that ejaculation had occurred did not
render Chappell’s testimony less believable. Chappell further failed to
demonstrate that he v;rould not have been sentenced to death had Dr. Grey-
been aware of prior threats, abuse, Chappell’s testimony, and other
evidence from the scene. As a medical examiner, Dr. Grey’s expertise was
limited to the condition of Panos’ body. Therefore, his opinion was not
undermined by cross-examination about the prior threats, abuse, or
Chappell’s testimony. Further, even knowing about the prior reports of
abuse and testimony in the case did not alter Dr. Grey's conclusion that
there was no evidence of injury indicative of sexual assault. We therefore
conclude the district court did not err in denying this claim without
I conducting an evidentiary hearing.
Failure to properly prepare a lay mitigation witness
Chappell contends that the district court erred in denying his
claim that trial counsel were ineffective for not adequately preparing
Benjamin Dean to testify so that his testimony- was not “severely
| impeached” by a prior affidavit. We conclude thét Chappell failed to
| demonstrate that had Dean been better prepared, there is a reasonable
probability that he would not have been sentenced to death. The subject
matter of Dean’s testimony was substantially covered by other witnesses,
| including Mira King, Chappell’s sister, and Fred Dean, Chappell’s friend,
who testified about Chappell’s home life and the beginning of Chappell
and Panos’ relationship. Their testimony was not similarly impeached.
Therefore, the district court did not err in denying this claim without

conducting an evidentiary hearing.
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Failure to object to cumulative victim impact testimony
Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his

claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to challenge the

|

|

{ adequacy of the notice of evidence in aggravation and that appellate
‘ counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that the victim-impact evidence
| was unfairly cumulative. We disagree.

| The State’s notice of evidence in aggravation was sufficient to
! inform the defense that the State would present evidence from Mike
Pollard and Carol Monson. See Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 561, 51 P.3d
521, 525 (2002) (noting that SCR 250(4)(f) requires the State’s notice of

aggravation to summarize any evidence that the State intends to

introduce during the penalty hearing). Further, the notice indicated that

Pollard would testify about Panos before the murder and Monson would
testify about Panos’ family life. Although Pollard also testified about how
Panos’ death affected him, the cross-examination does not indicate that
Chappell was caught unaware by any of the testimony. Further, the
notice ‘also indicated that the State planned to introduce evidence from
Christina Rees and Doris Wichtoski. Accordingly, Chappell could not
claim he was unfairly surprised by the introduction of their letters, which
Monson read.

Chappell would have further been unable to demonstrate on
appeal that the trial court’s decision to admit Pollard’s and Monson’s .
testimony was an abuse of discretion. See Johnson v. State, 122 Nev.
1344, 1353, 148 P.3d 767, 774 (2006) (noting that this court reviews a .
district court’s decision to admit evidence for an abuse of discretion). The
evidence presented by Pollard and Monson was not needlessly cumulative.

See NRS 48.035. Pollard’s prior and live testimony focused on different
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aspects of the murder: his prior testimony detailed Panos’ state of mind
and Chappell and Panos’ relationship and his live testimony focused on
Panos and the effect her death had on him. Monson testified about Panos,
her relationship with Panos, and the effect of Panos’ death on their family.
She also read several letters from family members and her own letter
which provided more detail about Panos’ life and death. Although the
testimony and letters covered similar themes, the information contained
and perspectives expressed therein were not repetitive and Monson’s
testimony was brief in the context of the overall length of the penalty
hearing. Therefore, the district court did not err in denying this claim

without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Failure to address prosecutorial misconduct

First, Chappell contends that the district court erred in

denying his claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to object to
several instances of prosecutorial misconduct that Chappell challenged in
his direct appeal in order to have benefited from a less deferential
standard of review on appeal. We disagree. We concluded on direct
appeal that the challenged comments did not constitute prosecutorial
misconduct, Chappell v. State (Chappell I1I), Docket No. 49478, at 23-25
(Order of Affirmance, October 20, 2009), and therefore a less deferential
standard of review on direct appeal would not have resulted in relief.
Second, Chappell contends that the prosecutor committed
misconduct by stating that Chappell had been arrested 10 times in front of
his children because no evidence supported the comment. We agree that
the prosecutor’s comment was improper. However, trial counsel objected
to the comment, and the district court sustained the objection. Therefore,

Chappell cannot demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient.
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Further, given the brevity of the comment, the district court’s action in
| sustaining the objection, and the evidence prodﬁced during the penalty
hearing, Chappell cannot demonstrate that appellate counsel was
ineffective for not raising the issue on appeal. See Hernandez v. State, 118
Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1108 (2002) (recognizing that a criminal
conviction will not be overturned on the basis of prosecutorial misconduct
unless the misconduct “so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to
| make the results a denial of due process”).

Third, Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying
his claim that trial counsel were ineffective for failing to object to the
prosecutor’s comments describing Chappell as “a despicable human being”
who “chose evil.” We disagree. Given the context of the comments, the
prosecutor was not “ridiculfing] or belittl[ing] the defendant or the case,”
Earl v. State, 111 Nev. 1304, 1311, 904 P.2d 1029, 1033 (1995), but rather
was describing the defendant and his actions using terminology that
{ “merely expressed the gravity of the crime charged,” Browning v. State,
I 124 Nev. 517, 534, 188 P.3d 60, 72 (2008). As an objection would have
’ been futile, Chappell cannot demonstrate that counsel’s performance was_
deficient. See Epps v. State, 901 F.2d 1481, 1483 (8th Cir. 1990)
(explaining that prosecutor’s comments that were not objectionable cannot
be the basis for ineffective-assistance claim based on counsel’s failure to

object); Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006)

3Chappell also contends that the statement violated NRS 48.045’s
bar against the admission of prior bad acts. As evidence of uncharged bad
acts is admissible during a capital penalty hearing, see Nika v. State, 124
Nev. 1272, 1296, 198 P.3d 839; 856 (2008), this argument lacks merit.
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(stating that counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make a
futile objection). |

Failure to object to improper impeachment

Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his.
claim that trial and appellate counsel were ineffective for failing to
challenge the State’s improper impeachment of Fred Dean régarding the
facts and circumstances of his prior conviction. The State’s impeachment
was improper because questions about the sentence imposed and facts
underlying a witness’ conviction are irrelevant. See Jacobs v. State, 91
Nev. 155, 158, 532 P.2d 1034, 1036 (1975); Plunkett v. State, 84 Nev. 145,
147, 437 P.2d 92, 93 (1968). Trial counsel should have objected. However,
Chappell failed to demonstrate prejudice because the inquiry involved the
facts of Dean’s prior criminal actions, not Chappell’s actions. Although
Dean testified on Chappell’s behalf, he was not closely associated with
Chappell. Moreover, the facts of Dean’s drug conviction were relatively
innocuous and there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome at
the penalty hearing had the information not been presented or that
Chappell would have obtained relief on appeal based on this error.
Therefore, no relief is warranted on this claim.

Admission of bad act evidence

Chappell contends that the district court erred in denying his
claim that appellate counsel was ineffective for not arguing that Ladonna
Jackson’s prior testimony, in which she noted that Chappell made money
by stealing, was impermissible bad act testimony that was not adequately
noticed. We disagree. The State informed Chappell that it intended to

introduce testimony from the guilt phase of his trial, including “prior trial

and penalty hearing transcripts. . . . for the purpose of establishing the
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\
‘ character of the defendant for penalty purposes.” This description
| encompassed Jackson’s trial testimony. Further, such testimony was not
inadmissible, as evidence of uncharged prior bad acts is admissible at the
penalty hearing. See Nika, 124 Nev. at 1296, 198 P.3d at 856.4 Therefore,
Chappell failed to demonstrate that appellate counsel’s performance was
deficient. See Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103 (stating that
counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make a futile
objection).’
Cumulative error
Chappell argues that the district court erred in denying his
claim that the cumulative errors of trial and appellate counsel warrant
relief. @~We disagree. Chappell only demonstrated that counsel's
‘ performance was deficient in two respects: failing to introduce an expert
| to testify about the presence of sperm in the victim and failing to object to
‘ the improper impeachment of Fred Dean. Even assuming that counsel’s
deficiencies may be cumulated, see Harris by and through Ramseyer v.
Wood, 64 F.3d 1432, 1438 (9th Cir. 1995) (concluding that prejudice may

result from cumulative effect of multiple counsel deficiencies); State v.

4Chappell suggests, in passing, that this testimony is impalpable or
highly suspect. In light of the other evidence showing that Chappell stole
to support his drug habit, attempted to sell belongings and rent the
victim’s car after her murder, was apprehended trying to shoplift, and
acknowledged that he stole items for his daughter’s birthday, Chappell
cannot demonstrate that Jackson’s testimony is impalpable or highly
suspect.

5To the extent that Chappell contends that the district court erred in
admitting prior bad act evidence, this claim should have been raised in

Chappell’s direct appeal. See NRS 34.810(1)(b).
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Thiel, 665 N.W.2d 305, 322 (Wis. 2003) (concluding that multiple incidents
of deficient performance may be aggregated in determining prejudice
under Strickland), we conclude that any deficiencies in counsel’s
performance had no cumulative impact warranting relief.

Having considered Chappell’s contentions and concluding that

they lack merit, we

ORDER the judgment of the district court AFFIRMED.¢
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The Honorable Michael Douglas, Justice, voluntarily recused
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES MONTELL CHAPPELL, No. 61967

Appellant, _ |

vs. FILED

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent. 0CT 2 2 2015
TRACIE K. LINDEMAN

CLERK OF SI/PREME CQURT
EY V

DEPUTY CLERK d'

ORDER DENYING REHEARING

Rehearing denied. NRAP 40(c).
It is so ORDERED.!
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A summary of the case allegations and the procedure to be followed in this case are noted

below. The fact that these allegations have been made does not mean they are necessarily true.

The State has the burden of proving the allegations beyond a reasonable doubt.
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reasonable doubt. Mr. Chappell 15 presumed innocent.
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